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RW: And I 'talkied to Kimiko about her experiences somewh at, hut of course, she was just
born there, so she doesn't know hardly anything, and so  she did give me. . . tell  
me about you. and Jack, and gave me your telephone numbe r. And this is just in case  
you would-̂ like to express your feelings. I could, ask you so me questions, and vf  
you don't like the questions, why, just say "phooey ."

NT: , Yes, well like me, I. . . well I wasn't that. . . b y nature I wasn't really all  
that upset, you know what I mean, about the whole deal.

RW: Oh, yes, many people do.
NT: Bob was really upset, but to me it was well, I felt that they did it for our pro�

tection in a way. . . It turned out Bob. . . But I th ink if we were out a lot of  
! us would have been killed. You know, by the people from the Filipino, they were  

really going wild in Stockton, and many of us, I think, would have been dead, if we
1 weren 't put in the center.
* /

RW: Now am I to understand that you say they would have kille d you if you. .  .
NT: Oh yes, there were 2 or 3 murders right here in Stock ton, and they were just Sane

by these Filipinos, who just went wild, because, you k now, how they were bombing  
\ Manila and things like that. In one case where this ma n that had a garage, we don't  

know, we didn't actually see . But then he was. . . in those days, it was glass and .
[ then just by passing by - boom - they shot him thr ough the window.

RW: Gee. . .
NT: And in this one case where this Filipino man just went. .  . these men. .  . Japanese

couple had a hotel and they had 2 or 3 children, I don't know, they went up the  
hotel and then rang the bell. . . so that when the man o pened the door, you know,  
they have a little window where you register ? and they shot him dead.

RW: Oh my goodness.
NT: Now two happened in Stockton just before we were put in to camp.

RW: And you were living in Stockton then?
NT: Yes, at that time we were living in Stockton.  *

RW: And how did your parents earn their living?
NT: Oh, they were more or less semi-retired.

RW: Semi-retired at that time. . . Were you working or going to school?
NT: I was just going to school yet.

RW: In high school or. .  s
NT: No, I was going to beauty college.

RW: • . .to beauty college. . . yes
NT: I just got through high school and I was going to b eauty college which was interrupted,

because of the war. But I ’m sure if we weren't. .  . like I didn’t. . . I thought  
it was. . . you know, being a citizen and we're put into  the center, it wasn't  
right, but still if we were not put in the center, if we  stood out, I think a lot  
of us would still have ended up dead. You know, like. . .  I'm sure that there  
would have been a lot more kids like that. . . and I know t hat they had it all  
over, and not only in Stockton.

RW: You remember how you felt when you first heard that you were going to be put in
centers, you know, in the assembly centers?

NT: Well, not. . . well, as I say, I really wasn't all t hat upset but I thought for
heavens sake, you know, we didn't think it was righ t, but we knew we couldn't  
fight the deal, so. . .
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r w : You 're the first person I've talked to, you know, where  this, where was this vio�
lence.  . . gust a second I rm going to have a swallow of water.  . .

NT: Okay,1 . .  ||! V

KW: Now, let 's see, it's valuable to have your opinion. Let's see, do you remember any
incidents about tne assembly centers that come to your m ind, anything that you re�
member about it? Where were you sent by the way?

NT: Okay, first we were first sent to Turlock. , , yes, ,  , that was the assembly
center, , . then we were relocated in Gila, Arizona,

RW: Yes, yes,
NT: Then from there we went to Tule Lake,

RW: Then to Tale Lake
NT: And that is where we met you,

RW: Of course, I met Jim in G l̂a, oust before he left,
NT:' Oh, I didn't know that!

RW: Yes, we had some nice talks, and I talked to him about s egregation and then we
corresponded when he was segregated, and then, of cour se, we renewed our friend�
ship when I was allowed to come there,

NT: . But you know what happened, \  . I don't know now. . , this I didn't think about  
j it, , , it didn't dawn on me until a lot 'later. . . b ut you know when. . . you

/ know how the atmosphere in Tule Lake was. . . there w as some people who were really
pro and con Japanese. . . pro American. . . you know. .  all this mixed feelings  
And like when they used to see. . . and you used to come to our b arracks. . .  
right?

RW: Come where?
NT: To our barracks, barracks. . .  *

RW: Yes.
NT: j But then the people around the neighborhood, especial ly these young bachelors who  

I came from. . . let's see. . . Hawaii, who were reall y for the Japanese, you know  
I ,  . .way of thinking and everything like that. . . they th ought that he was like . .
\ a spy. . . not a spy but he thought there were. . .  . V/hen he was giving you this
I information, he was giving you thinking that, you know, that he had ill feelings  
f \ toward the Americans, right? And. he was tellin g you how he felt all about this  
Jevacuate. . . but then they took it the other way.

RW: ��Oh, you mean that these bachelors accused him of bei ng a spy?
NT: Right, not exactly a spy, but like a. . .

r w :\ an inu.
NT: \ . . . going against the Japanese.

RW: . . .against the Japanese.
NT: How this is the way I added it up later, you know, when I was thinking about it.

! And he never told me, but I think he was getting thr eatening letters through the
mail. His life was threatened.

RW: J sensed .......... his life was threatened, and you gust felt that.
NT: Yeah, I thought that. . . I don't think I'm wrong abou t it. When I come to think

about it now, you know. Go this is Why he moved to Utah, because of his wife. . .
I think first didn't he go to Utah or something?

RW: Well, his wife stayed for a few. . .
NT: No, no. . . his wife went to Arkansas with his mother.
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RW:
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I'm not sure about that.
I can't remember that well either. But anyway, ut all en ded up that he went out,  
you know. ..

He went out in September very early , I remember my l ast talk with him, it was a  
very, but. . .

that time he didn't mention anything to you? About. .  .

He didn't. But the interesting thing is that a good mutual fr iend, somebody we  
both knew in Gila, told me about 4 or 5 months later that B ob Tsuruda had been  
threatened. . .
Had been what?

Had been threatened by. . .
Oh threatened.

) Yes, threatened by the radicals. . .
Yes, we used to call them that. . .

L ■
And this is oust hearsay, if you want to hear it? And  what this friend, she was a  
woman, she said she had heard that they had threatened him  that if he didn 't give  
them sugar from the mess, they 'd get him.
Oh, yes.

And so, then I could understand why he was kind of ner vous in August and September  
and you know, God help him, you know.
And another. . . there was a Mr. . . .  I  just don't reme mber. . . recall this  
man's name.  . . but he used to work at the warehouse. . . okay now, I think Bob 
used to work someplace where they were distributing food to the messhall. . . he  
was in charge of that, and he used to go to various messha lls with this head man.
He was a Caucasian. . .

Mr. Hayward, or someone like that.
You mentioned the name, it just doesn't come to me, anyway he used to go with him  

, to the different messhalls to show him EXACTLY how bad the situation was. . . and
f  so. . . and how shortage it was. . . and how the Japa nese people liked to have

some Japanese food once in a while. . . and so he arranged it  so that we used to  
get some Japanese food from the outside, at that time fr om Denver or something  

( like that. But he used to get some of those Japanese condiments and things like  
that. How Bob arranged it to be that way. BUT the peop le, the Japanese people. .  
they were always looking at it from the wrong angle, you know , like they would  
never praise you for being good. . . they all said that. "O h, he 's doing That  
because he's a dog." In other words he was kissing.  . . he was brown-nosing. . .  
you know what that expression means? Like he was kis sing his whatchamacall, so. .  
since it would be good for him. And they always took it the bad.  way. And I
think in this respect, this is another thing. . . a s I say this even after I came
out of the camp that this dawned on me. . . .that I bet you he was threatened.

The people were down on him after he left the camp o r down on you?
Ho, no, no. At least I didn't feel any. . . I didn't  feel. . . I didn't have any  
feelings that they were, you know, eyeing me or anythin g like that. This was just  

\ for my brother. I'm sure that he was getting threate ned, his life- was threatened  
so therefore he was relocated. But at That time I wa s too naive, you know. . .
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WelZ3 you were a young girl. .  .
Yeah3 and I was innocentj always pampered baby of the family.  . . [

(laughs)
YeSj I was.  . .

Welly I always liked you.
(laughs) You know3 as I say. In those days3 I don’t think th ey were quite as  

mature as these young ones are now.

YeSj that is true. Feople minded their parents more.
. Yeahj and we were too naive3 you know. . . white was whit e and you know3 we didn’t  
v see any black. We believed everything was gust3 you kn ow. . . which was the world  
i was a lot different fix)m what it is right now. So for this reason. . . and later  
V when. . . but I never even bothered to question Bob. It  was past history.

NOj I wouldn’t but I. . . how should I. . . I appreciate your strong feelings  
here. I might ask you another question. . . Was there anything that happened in  
Tule Lake that made you feet especially sad?
Oh gosh. . .

Welly if i t ’s too bady why we wilt skip it.
Yeahy like it has been so tong that I just can’t reminiscey you know.

I was wonderingy you were very young at the time3 do you remember the military  
registration in Gita and how you felt about that or where  you too young to answer?  
Okayy tike. . . I think I was realty for the Japanese  army3 at that time I stilt  
had. . . I guessy downright I guess I had a feeling tow ard America because they  
put us in this centery but I thought we were kind of ki cked in the mouth. So  
for this reasony we. . . didn’t 3 I didn’t. . . bei ng a woman I don’t register  
for the armyy but then I did. . . Okayy we had a choice. . . sign LOYAL to the  
Americans or LOYAL to Japan3 you know. And so I went with the family. I went  
loyal to Japan and then therefore we were sent to Tule  Lake. Right. But I did  
not go as far as renouncing my citizenship. When the time came when I had to re�
nounce my citizenshipy I just put my foot down and I said3 NO y noy I ’m not going  
to do that. So I didn’t go that far, you know. And when the w ar turned out to  
be the way it did3 you know3 I was released right afte r3 in February I think3 and  
the people who renounced their citizen had to remain long er and some even went back  
to Japan.

Yes3 was this in February3 19463 you were released?
YeSy 1946 I was released. And then I think my broth er Bill3 whose family was  
really3 really 3 boy Japan3 Japan3 they even went back to Japan.

Ohy they did! I didn’t know that.
His wife’s folksy Bill’s wife’s folks. . . Bill got  married in Tule Lake. . .  
his wufe ’s parents went back to Japan with the whol e - all the chilclren and every�
body.

I got that feeling while I was at Tule Lake in talki ng to Bill that his wife’s. . .  
his in-laws were much more pro-Japan than he was.
Ohy yes. . .

And they were really pressuring him.
They were very. . . especially Grace had another sis ter, older sister3 whose  
husband was REALLY pro-Japan. So for this reason3 I guess3 Bill was more or less  
pressured into renouncing his citizenship. He went a long with his wife’s side of  
the family. And he renounced his citizenship too.
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RW: And I talked to Kimiko about her experiences somewhat, bu t of course, she was ¿just
b o m  there, so she doesn't know hardly anything, and so she did give me, . . tell  
me about you and Jack, and gave me your telephone number.  And this is gust in case  
you would like to express your feelings, I could, ask you  some questions, and if  
you don't like the questions, why, gust say "phooey,"

NT: Yes, well like me, I, , , well I wasn't that, , , by nature I wasn't really all
that upset, you know what I mean, about the whole d.e al.

RW: Oh, yes, many people do,
NT: Bob was really upset, but to me it was well, I felt that they did it for our pro�

tection in a way,  . . It turned out Bob, , , But I think if we were out a l ot of  
| us would have been killed. You know, by the people from th e Filipino, they were  

really going wild in Stockton, and many of us, I think, would have been dead, if we  
| weren 't put in the center,

RW: Now am I to understand that you say they would, have kill ed you if you. . .
NT:. Oh yes, there were 2 or 3 murders right here in Stock ton, and they were gust djone  

. by these Filipinos, who gust went wild, because, you know, how they were bombing  
\ Manila and things like that. In one case where this man that had a garage, we don't  

know, we didn't actitally see . But then he was. . . in those days, it was glass and .
I then gust by passing by - boom - they shot him throu gh the window,

RW: Gee, , .
NT: And in this one case where this Filipino man gust we nt, . , these men. . . Japanese

couple had a hotel and they had 2 or 3 children, I don't  know, they went up the  
hotel and then rang the bell. . . so that when the man o pened the door, you know,  
they have a little window where you register ? and they shot him dead.

RW: Oh my goodness.
NT: Now two happened in Stockton 'gust before we were put into  camp.

RW: And you were living in Stockton then?
NT: Yes, at that time we were living in Stockton.  _ r

RW: And how did your parents earn their living?
NT: Oh, they were more or less semi-retired.

RW: Semi-retired at that time. . . Were you working or go ing to school?
NT: I was gust going to school yet.

RW: In high school or. . *
NT: No, I was going to beauty college.

RW: .. .to beauty college. . . yes
NT: I gust got through high school and I was going to b eauty college which was interrupted

because of the war. But I ’m sure if we weren't.  . . like I didn't. . . I thought  
it was. . . you know, being a citizen and we're put int o the center, it wasn't  
right, but still if we were not put in the center, if we sto od out, I think a lot  
of us would still have ended up dead. You know, like. . . I'm sure that there  
would have been a lot more kids like that. . . and I know  that they had it all  
over, and not only in Stockton.

RW: You remember how you felt when you first heard that you were going to be put in
centers, you know, in the assembly centers?

NT: Well, not. , . well, as I say, I really wasn't all that upset but I thought for
heavens sake, you know, we didn't think it was right , but we knew we couldn't  
fight the deal, so. . .
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know, so we just don't get to correspond or talk to each o ther that way �

RW: Bwt you did have these friends in Tule Lake �� which was nice �� Am I putting words in  
your mouth?

NT: No, you mean nice in what way?

RW: I mean if you had a couple of girl friends to whom you could t alk in Tule Lake,  
that would be kind of pleasant �� because some people I've talked to have said they've  
never talked. � . they were so scared, they never talked to anybody and t hey didn't  
have any friends at all .

NT; Oh, oh, oh.

RW:
NT:

You see?
You mean talk about what, anything specific?  •

RW: Well, you know, how girls your age like to get together and d o things or maybe I  
should ask did you spend most of your time with your family?

� NT: -  
YV

Yes, I was more or less family oriented. �� �� about the only time. �� �� And I  
wasn't much too socialized. �� �� you know �� like my family was real old fashioned  
and they were very protective �� especially in camp �� you know, all the boy. �� �� men.  
young men you meet are all total strangers �� you don't know where they came from.

RW:
NT:

And your family was real careful.
Yeah, my father and you know �� my folks were really very. �� �� so I didn't go out  
and date very much, let's put it this way, maybe I had 2 or 3 boyfriends �� nothing  
serious you know, and even then they used to come to my hous e, but we didn 't go  
out much.

RW:
NT:

I see �� Lid you go to any of the classes?  
I used to just go to the Japanese school.

RW:
NT:

You went to the Japanese school ��
I worked during the day.

RW:
NT:

Yes, oh yes, what work did you do?  
First, I worked in the canteen.

RW:
NT:

N//

At the canteen?
Right, you know, behind the counter, and. then when I came  home I used, to go to  
Japanese school. And so there was your day, it was gone . So that was the life  
in Tule Lake � (laughs)

RW: Yeah, well that was. �� �� it was Tule Lake  (laughs). I was going to ask. �� �� was .*  
there any person in Tule Lake that you. �� �� people or group of people that you,,,  
felt were really foolish or stupid at that time? Of cou rse �� you were a young &■ '  >  
person, but was there any group that you thought was  being pretty d a m  foolish?

^ NT: Well, I thought the one that was talking about reno uncing their citizenship and

f V “  
> r

&v&iyisru,ny uL.K.& vnau was. �� �� d u v  you wouuan v aare express your tnoughvs �� bo 
like. �� �� okay. �� �� when I used to work at. �� �� and before the canteen, I used  
to work at the beauty shop for a while and next door wa s the barber shop which was  
all men. �� �� and when they weren't too busy they used to come you know, l ike we  
used to have those little heaters, you know, in people' s homes, and they used to  

i come around and they used to talk and those pro-Japanese, you kn ow, and when they  
j started talking about citizenship and renouncing it and everyth ing �� �� �� or de-  
j nouncing. �� �� I used to go away and sit in the comer and do my crocheting  or  

knitting; I wouldn't mingle because I don't want them t o ask me if I had already  
denounced my citizneship, which I didn't.
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RW: Welt, were these.  . . well, first they caVled it the Sokoku Kenkyu Seinen dan
and then they had the Hokoku Seinen dan or maybe you don't reme mber the names.

NT: Oh, I don't remember the names. No, I really don't re member the names.

RW: But there were these real groups that I know.  . . boy, .  . I went around and
talked with some of the leaders.  . . I was there.  . . I know how bad it was,

NT: Yeah, because temper ran pretty high at times. So I used to, , , you know, , ,
go away from them, , , when they started talking I would j ust. , ,

RW: just leave, , ,
NT: Yeah, right, you know, the group or something and pretend that I was busy or some�

thing Idke that,

RW: Were you ever threatened yourself?
NT: No, no, because I never let myself in the position where. .  . you know, like I

never would be verbal. . . never say anything that would an tagonize them, let's  
\ put it this way, because I thought it was mighty foolish , you know, it was my. . .

because I was against the. . . the odds were against me more or less. . . you  
l know the whole surroundings. The one that was not r eally pro, they all kept their  
l mouth shut, you know. . . This was the wisest thing to d o. So. . . like we would  

never voice. . . and if they're really talking and. . . let them ramble, my  
gosh. . . we were just, you know. Like some of my girlfri ends used to not look at  
each other and don't say a word. . .  (laughs) .

RW: Because their folks were kind of pro. . .
NT: Yeah, or the people that you're working with. . . like s ome of these young bache�

lors, they were more so than the family men. The family  men. . . there were some  
pretty strong hardheads there, but. . . just let them  talk, you know, and this is  
the way I used to handle the situation.  (laughs)

RW: Yes, that is what you call. . . a lot of repression.  (laughs)
NT: Yes, but as I. . . was still young and. . ,

| RW: This  was the way. . . how do I say. . . the way to be safe, I guess.
 ̂ NT: Yeah, right, right, you know. Why want to poke on fire, you k now, make it worse. [S'

RW: Yeah, exactly  (laughs).
NT: (laughs)

RW: Well, now let's talk about. . . This may be happier . . . when you told me you
left Tule Lake in February of '46, do you remember how you felt when you knew you
were leaving?

NT: I think I was glad to get back. . . get out. . . so cal l get out into the world
and when we went out we went to a farm. . . okay. . . my s ister and her husband
used to work for these people who had a big farm.

RW:/ Was this in Stockton?
NT:' Yeah.

RW: You went directly to Stockton.
NT: Right. Zuckerman 3 _________  Zuckerman used to have this big farmland. My brother-

j in-law used to be the foreman and he 's been with him, o h gosh, maybe since he was  
( 12* d understand. And so we just. . . they told us a ll to come back. And. then. . .  
j ^ °f f°™Hy vent back to this particular island. . . it was an island you know,  

Ifke they used to call Manival (?) island and there wa s, oh gosh, idle place was  
just packed with people who came out of the center. An d we stayed There for a  
white. As a matter of fact, I stayed there until I go t married.
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*71 y\*\l̂**
NHi Hello.

O. c ^ U A
RW. Hello, is this by any chance the lady I used to .. I should 

introduce myself*.I'm Rosalie., the lady you may ha ve known if

you are Nonko Hik-ida..

NHi Yes.

RW * I'm Rosalie Hankey, who used to visit your fam ily in Tule 

Lake a long time ago.

NHi Are you the one who was the author?

RWi Yeah.

NHi ..writing a book?

RWi Yes.

NHi Yeah...
1 m*-'

RW* And then..1^now retired and the Rockefeller Fou ndation gave

me as.ia.ttle money and I was to see. .to call peop le I knew and see 

if they wanted to give a kind of life history, whic h I could 

record, but I won't use your name, of course.

NHi You want the name of what?

RW* I won't use your name on it. It would be anonym ous.

NHi Oh..Where are you now?

RW; I'm now at Washington University in St. Louis.

NHi Are you calling from there?

RWi Yeah.

NHt Oh my gosh.

Oh goodness, Occasionally I'll think about you, you  know,

you have crossed my mind, and that book..was it eve r written?

RW? Yes, 1a&fc*Abook was written and then I wrote a nother one at 
K  iV*a  h &

that I sent to on what it was like for myself doing  field

work* ^nd she has a copy of that and of course if y ou'd like a 

copy, I'll send it to you, because it tells a lot o f the inside

stories
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Njii Yes, gee, gosh, you spoke to my brother mostly ..

RWi Yes.

Nlfi And he has expired..he passed away about 2 yea rs ago. 

RWi Yes, said.he died 2 years ago.

NHi Oh, did you talk to1 _____  you say.

RWi Yes, I talked to her. She wrote me..I put an ad  in the 

paper..I think.. ifchiiinlr it was some friend..som e

Japanese friend of mine told me where I could find. .that I 

should try this particular Hikida and it turned out  to be 

t*s son and his wife.

)coNHi Oh, yes.

RWi And I talked to about her experiences somewhat,  but

of course, she was just born there, so she doesn’t know hardly 

anything, and so she did give me..tell me about you  and Jack,
CkS A . , . .

and gjtve me your telephone number*.- And this is j ust m  case you 

would like to express your feelings .a**i I could a sk you some 

questions, and if you don’t like the questions, why , just say 

"phooey. **

NHi Yes, well like me, I..well I wasn't that..by na ture ,1 wasn't 

really all that upset, you know/afeutItffiaM o l e  

RWi Oh, yes, many people do.

NHi was really upset, but to me it was well, I

felt that they did it for our protection in a way.. Jt turned 

out & &  ''W&f&ut  I think if we were out a lot of us would , 

have been killed. You know, by the people from the Filapino, 

they were really going wild in Stockton, and many o f uq I think* 

would have been dead if we weren't put in the cente r.

RWi Now am I understand that you say, they would have 

killed you if you..

NHi Oh yes, there were 2 or 3 murders right here in  Stockton, 

and they were just done by these Filipinos,who just  went wild, 

because, you know, how they were bombing Manila and  things 

like that. In one case where this man had a garage,  we don t
�
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know, we didn't actually I W )  he w a s . . m  those days, it

was glass and then just by passing by - boom - they  shot him 

through the window.

RWi ¥«fsg^gee..
where

NHi and in this one case/this Filipino man just wen t..these 

men..Japanese couple had a hotel and they had 2 or 3 children,

I don't know, they went up the hotel and then rang the bell.. ^  

when the man opened the door, you know, they have a  little

window where you register __ i 4*1*)'  and they shot him dead.

RWi Oh my goodness.

NHi Now £ happened in Stockton just before we were put into 

camp.

RWi And you were living in Stockton then?

NHi Yes, at that time we: were living in Stockton.

RWi And how did your parents earn their living?

NHi Oh, they were more or less semi-retired.

RWi Semi-retired at that time.. Were you working or  going to 

school?

NHi I was just going to school yet.

RWi In high school or ..

NHi No, I was going to beauty college.

RWi ..to beauty college..yes.

NHi I just got through high school and I was going to 

beauty college which was interrupted because of the  war. But 

I'm sure if we weren't..like I didn't..I thought it  was., 

you know, being a citizen and we're putlHy^; into t he center, 

it wasn't right, but still if we were not put in th e center, 

if we stood out, I think a lot of us would still ha ve ended 

up dead. You know, like..I'm sure that there would have 

been a lot more kids like that..and I knew that the y had it 

all over, and not only in Stockton.

RWi You remember how you feel when you first heard that you 

were going to be put in centers, you know, in the a ssembly

centers?
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N Hi Well, not...well, as I say, I really wasn't all th at upset 

but I thought for heavens sake, you know, we didn't  think it was 

right, but we knew we couldn't fight the deal, so..

RWi You're the first person I've talked to, you kno w, where 

this, where was this violence..just a second I'm go ing to have 

a swallow of water..

NHi Okay.. v

RWi Now, let's see, tJjjHsjs valuable to have your opinion.

Let's see, do you remember any incidents about the assembly 

centers that come to your mind, anything that you r emember 

about it? Where were you sent by the way?

NHi Okay, first we were first sent to Turlock..yes. .that was 

the assembly center., then we were relocated in #il a, Arizona.

RWi Yes, yes.

N Hi Then from there we went to Tule Lake.

RWi ■ Ijiien to Tule Lake.

N Hi £ nd that is where we met you.

R Wi Of course, I met Jim in Giila, just before he left.

N Hi Oh, I didn't know that I

RWj Yes, we had some nice talks, and I talked to him about

segregation and we corresponded when he was segrega ted, and 

then, of course, we renewed our friendship when I w as allowed 

to come there.

NHi But you know what happened..I don't know now..t his I didn't 

think about it..it didn't dawn on me until a lot la ter..but you 

know when..you know how the atmosphere in Tule Lake  was..there 

was some people who were really pro and con Japanes e., pro 

American..you know..all this mixed feelings. And li ke when they 

used to see., and you used to come to our barracks. .right?
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RWi Gome where?

NHi To our barracks, barracks..

RWi Yes.

NH* But then the people around the neighborhood, es pecially these 

young bachelors who came from..let's see..Hawaii, w ho were really 

for the Japanese, you know..way of thinking and eve rything like 

that..they thought that he was like..a spy..not a s py but he 

thought they were» * oisai_jrĝ  When he was giving you this infor�

mation, he was giving you thinking that, you know, that he had

ill feelings toward the Americans, right, and he wa s telling
f T

you how he felt all about this evacuate. then they took it 

the other way.

RWj Oh, you mean that these bachelors accused him o f being a 

spy?

NHi Right, not exactly a spy, but like a..

RW; an

NHi ..going against the Japanese.

RWi ..against the Japanese.

NHi Now this is the way I added it up later, you know, when I 

was thinking about it, &nd he never told me, but I think he was 

getting threatening letters through the mail. His l ife was

threatened. jv/JT

RWt I sensed...... his life was threatened, and you  felt that.

NHi Yeah, I thought that..I don't think o wrong abo ut it.

When I come to think about it now, you know. ��� this is why he 

moved to Utah, because of his wife..! think first d idn t he go 

to Utah or something?

RWt Well, his wife stayed for a few..

NHi No , no..his wife went to Arkansas with his mother.

RWi I'm not sure about that.

NHi I can't remember that well either. But anyway^

it all ended up that he went out, you know..
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RWi He went out in September very early, I remember  my last 

talk with him, it was a very, but..

RWt He didn't.Sit the interesting thing is that a g ood mutual 

friend, somebody we both^knew inSila^told me about ^ or 5

NHi Had been what?

RWi Had been threatened by..

NHi Oh threatened.

RWt Yes, threatened by the radicals..

NHi Yes, we used to ca}l them that..

RWi And this is just heipesay, if you want to hear it*. And

what this friend, she was a woman, she said she had  heard that
him

they had threatened/that if he didn't give them sug ar from the 

mes?, they'd get him.

NHi Oh, yes.

RWi And so^then I could understand whv he was kind of nervous
L 'Av'W;

in August and September and you know, &Sk,  help^ you know.

NHi And another..there was a Mr....I just don't rem ember., 

recall this man's name..but he used to work at the warehouse., 

okay now, I think «gfeâ used to work someplace wher e they were 

distributing food to the messhall..he was in charge  of that, 

and he used to go to various messhalls with this he ad man*

We was a Caucasian..

RWi Mr. IIaward, or someone like that.

NHi You  mentioned the name, it just doesn't come to me, an yway 

he used to go with him to the different messhalls t o show him 

EXACTLY how bad the situation was..and so..and how shortage it

was..and how the Japanese people liked to have some  Japanese 

food once in a while..and so he arrange.it so that we

used to get some Japanese food from the outside, at  that time 

from Denver or something like that. But he used to get some

arranged it to be that way* BUT the people, the Jap anese

��
NHi At that time he didn't mention anything to you#  About

months later that

^  \t&

of those Japanese condiments and things like that. Now 3*0$«
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people..they were always looking at it from the wro ng angle, you 

know, like they would never praise you for being go od..they all 

said that. ”0h, he's doing that because he's a dog. " In other 

words he was kissing..he was brown-nosing..you know  what that 

expression means? like he was kissing his whatchama call, so*, 

since it would be good for h imJ“ And they always to ok it the bad 

way. And I think in this respect, this is another t hing..as I 

say this even after I came out the camp that this d awned on roe. 

..that I bet you he was threatened.

n he . left tfre-aarop?—~

RW* The people would d$.wn on him after he left the  camp or 

d$wn on you?

NHi No,no, no. At least I didn't feel any..I didn't  feel..I 

didn't have any feelings that they were, you know, eyeing me 

or anything like that. This was just for my brother . I'm sure 

that he was getting threatened, his life was threat ened so 

therefore he was relocated. But at that time I was too naive, 

you know..

RW* Well, you were a young girl..

NH* Yeah, and I was/always pampered baby of the fam ily.. 

RW * (laughs)

NH* Yes, I was..

RW* Well, I always liked you.

NH* (laughs) You know, as I say./I don't think they  were quite 

as mature as these young ones are now.

RW* Yes, that is true. People minded their parents more.

NH* Yeah, and we were too naive, you know..white wa s white and 

you know, we didn't see any black. We believed ever ything was 

just, you know., which was the world was a lot diff erent from 

what it is right now. So for this reason., and late r when..

innocent *

In those days

but I never even bothered to qaestion ,t was past history.
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RW* No, I wouldn’t but I..how should I..I appreciat e your 

strong feelings here. I might ask you another quest ion..

Was there anything that happened in Tule Lake that made you 

feel especially sad?

NHi Oh gosh..

RWt Well, if it's too bad, why we will skip it.

NHi Yeah, like it has been so long that I just can’ t reminisce^ 

you know.

RWi I was wondering, you were very young at the tim e, do you 

remember the military registration in Gila and how you felt about 

that or were you too young to answer?

NHi Okay, like..I think I was really for the Japane se army, at

that time I still had..I guess^downright I guess I had a feeling

toward America because they put us in this center, but I thought

we were kind of kicked in the mouth. So for this re ason, we..

didn't,I didn’t..being a woman I don’t register for  the army,

^  * * 4 I
but thenjy.Qkaywwe had a choice..sign LOYAL to the Americans 

or LOYAL to Japan, you know. And so I went with the  family*

I went loyal to Japan andy\therefore we were sent t o Tule Lake. 

Right. But I did not go as far as renouncing my cit izenship.

When the time came when I had to renounce my citize nship, I just 

put my foot down a n d I'm not going to do that. So I 

didn’t go that far, you know. And when the war turn ed out to be 

the way it did, you know, I was released right afte r, in February 

I think, and the people who renounced their citizen  had to 

remain longer and some even went back to Japan.

RW* Yes, was this in February, 19^6, you were relea sed?

NHi Yes, 19^6 I was released. And then I think my b rother

� ��
whose family was really, really, boy, Japan, Japan,  they 

even went back to Japan.

RW* Oh, they did! I didn't know that.
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NHi His wife's folks, jura ft*s wife folks..J»*k go t married in 

Tule Lake..his wife's parents went back to Japan wi th the whole —  ¿JUL 

children and everybody.

RWi I got that feeling while I was at Tule Lake in talking to

& M
Jjsek^that his wife's..his in-laws were much more p ro-Japan than 

he was.

NHi Oh, yes..

RWi And they were really pressuring him.

NHi They were very..especially Grace had another si ster, older 

sister, who husband was REALLY pro-Japan. So for th is reason,

I guess, was more or less pressured into renouncing  his

citizenship. He went along with his wife's side of the family.

And he renounced his citizenship too.

RWi You know how he feels about that now?

NHi No , we don't even talk about it.

RWi Yeah, I can see it is something you'd like to f orget.

NHi When it came to the point that he was going bac k to Japan,

that *s when he put his foot down* y ° u know, he sai d he wasn't going

to go back to Japan. Grace's folks...
%<lL

RWi You mean Jeek refused to go back to Japan?

NHi From the camp.

RWi Good.

NHi You know, he didn't, but all of Grace's folks w ent back. 

RWt All the folks went back..

NHi trace's folks and all his..of course his sister ..one of 

them was married Rick was younger, you know, younge r than 

Grace.

RWi Did his wife stay with him,^did she go..>

NHi No , no, no, she stayed with him.

RWi Oh, that's nice.

NHi Right, right, but they couldn't talk..I guess a t first 

they tried to get om At to go back to Japan, but I guess that tu  

when he put his foot down, and I guess he didn't go  back.
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But Grace's sister was..older sister was the only o ne wto was 

married and Rick was younger and of course they wer e still of 

school age, elementary and all..so they all went ba ck with the 

folksf jBut now they are all back in America.

RWi Now they've all returned. .

NH» Yeah, all come back to America, right.

RWi Many have come back and I've talked to a few wh o have 

come back in doing this work and most tell me that they had a 

terrible time in Japan.

NH* Oh yes, it was rough I understand.

RWi They r e a l l y / ' s o  wounded by it, you know,,,so sa d. 

NHi Yes, like I say if we weren't put in camp..mayb e I even 

wouldn't be around^Who knows, fhey didn't care who as long., 

they just wanted to get even with some Japanese is all..and in 

tho-e days the Filipinos were..they were mostly Fil ipinos, let's 

put it this way, I don't mean to single them out, b ut it was the

Filipino people who was doing all this* most of the m were^ '

bachelors and they were young, you know, they were 1k\
dA-A*-'*.

more wild.. G

RWi (laughs)

NH* So this was what was going on, so..

RW* I don't approve of beatings and murdering (laug hs) by 

anybody.

NHi I don't know how well you knew the Filipino peo ple like in 

the early '20s, I hear..boy if they argue and if yo u kind of made

him feel bad, you were interested in him or somethi ng - they 

would just try to get you for a wife or something a nd if you 

refused..there were 1 or 2 girls who even got kille d.

RWi Well, let's get back to Tule Lake. There are a few more

questions I'd like to *

Were there any p e r s o n A  persons in Tule Lake with wh om you 

were really friendly? You know, that you felt you c ould 

trust and rely on?
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NH* Well, all my..like..some of my friends..like..o ne of my 

good girl friends passed away already. And like we* re all so 

scattered..like one is in L.A., the other one is in  Alameda; some 

is in even Detroit, Michigan, you know, so we just don't get to 

correspond or talk to each other that way.

RWi But you did have these friends in Tule Lake, wh ich was nice. 

Am I putting words in your mouth?

MHi No, you mean nice in what way?

RWi I mean if you had a couple of girl friends to

whom you could talk in Tule Lake, that would be kin d of pleasant, 

because some people I've talked to have said they'v e never talked 

.they were so scared they never talked to anybody a nd they 

didn't have any friends at all.

NHi Oh, oh, oh.

RW* You  see*.

NHi You mean talk about what, anything specific?

RWi Well, you know, how girls your age like to get together and 

do things or maybe I should ask did you spend most of your time 

with your family?

NHi Yes, I was more or less family oriented..about the only 

t ime?̂ rid I wasn't much too socialized, .you know, like my
V /

family was real old fashioned and they were very pr otective, 

especially in camp, you know, all the boy..men..you ng men you 

meet are all total strangers, you don't know where they came

from.

RWt And your family was real careful.

N Hi Yeah, my father and you know, my folks were^very.. so I

G/VjgJ- .''V ' ' yV,./: -
didn't go out.yy.date very much, let's put it this way, maybe 

I had 2 or 3 boyfriends, nothing serious you know, and even 

then they used to come to my house, but we didn't g o out

much.

RWi I see. Did you go to any of the classes? 

NHi I used to just go to the Japanese school. 

RWt You went to the Japanese school.

NHi I worked during the day.
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Rw » Yes, oh yes, what work did you do? 

NHi First, I worked in the canteen.

RWi At the canteen]

NH* Right, you know, behind the counter, and then w hen I came 

home X used to go to Japanese school. And so there was your 

day, it was gone. So that was the life in Tule Lake , (laughs) 

RW* Yeah, well that was..it was Tule Lake (laughs).  I was 

going to ask..was there amy person in Tule Lake tha t you., 

people or group of people that you felt were really  foolish or 

stupid at that time? Of course, you were a young pe rson, but 

was there any group that you thought was being pret ty darn 

foolish?

 ̂ thought the one that was talking about renouncing ^ 

•#wrr ̂citizenship and everything like that was...b ut you^dffedĵ t 

dare express your thoughts. So like..okay..when I u sed to work 

at..and before the canteen, I used to work at the b eauty shop

for a while and next door was the barber shop which  was all 

men..and when they weren't too busy they used to co me you know, 

like we used to have those little heater, you know,  in people's 

homes, and they used to cmme around and they used t o talk and 

those pro"Japanese, you know, and when they started  talking 

about citizenship and renouncing it and everything. .or ¿enouncing.. 

I used to go away and sit in the corner and do my c rocheting or 

knittipgj I wouldn't mingle because I want them to ask me

if I had already denounced my citizenship, which I didn't.
well, first

RWi Well, were thes^,e^4iwel

, Hokoku Scjnetj dan 
tile — .  maybe you don't remember the names.

NHi Oh, I don't remember the names. No, I really do n't re�

member the names.

RWi But there were these real groups that I know..b oy..I went 

around and talked with some of the leaders*.I was t here..I 

know how bad it was.

NH* Yeah, because temper ran pretty high *t times. So I used

to..you know..go away from them..when they started talking I 

wauld just..

feed, the Sekeku l̂SZ  ̂Seinen dan
■ and then they had
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RWi just leave..

NHi Yeah, right, you know, the group or something a nd pretend 

that I was busy or something like that.

RWj Were you ever threatened your self?

NHi No, no, because I never let myself in the posit ion where..

you know, like I never would be verbal..never say a nything that

would antagonize them, let's put it this way, becau se I thought
because

it was mighty foolish, you know, it was my \̂.I was against the., 

the odds were against me more or less..you know the  whole 

surroundings. 4~\

Ntfr ̂ The one that was not really pro, they all kep t their 

mouth shut, you know.. This was the wisest thing to  do. So., 

like we would never voice..and if they're really ta lking and., 

let them ramble, my gosh..we were just, you know. L ike some of 

my girlfriends used to not look at each other and M Pfc say a 

word..(laughs).

RW* Because their folks were kind of pro..

NHi Yeah, or the people that you're working with..l ike some 

of these young bachelors, they were more so than th e family 

men. The family men..there were some pretty strong hardheads 

there, but..just let them talk, you know, and this is iggpt  the 

way I used to handle the situation, (laughs)
O f

RWt Yes, that is what you call..a lot of f^piressio n (laughs) 

NHi Yes, but as I..was still young and..

RWi This was the way..how do I say..the way to be s afe, I 

guess.

NHi Yeah, right,right, you know. Why want to poke o n fire, 

you know, make it worse.

RW? Yeah, exactly (laughs) ,

N H� (laughs)

RWi Well, now let's talk about., this may be happie r..< 9̂0*. 

when you told me you left Tule Lake in February of '̂ 6, do 

you remember how you felt when you knew you were le aving?

NHi I think I was glad to get back..get out..so cal l get 

out in6t̂  the world and when we went out we went to  a farm.. 

okay..my sister and her husband used to work for th ese people 

who had a big farm.
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RWi Was this in Stockton?

NHi Yeah.

RW» You went directly to Stockton.

NHi Right. Suckleman, ______  Suckleman used to have this big

farmland. My brother-in-law used to be the foreman and he's 

been with him, oh gosh, maybe since he was 13» I un derstand.

And so we just*.they told us all to come back.ftnd then., a lot 

of family went back to this particular island..it w as an island 

you know, like they used to call Manival (?) island  and there 

was, oh gosh, the place was just packed with people  who came 

out of the center. And we stayed there for a while.  As a 

matter of fact, I stayed there until I got married.

RW� And let me see, did you work...did you go to schoo l any

more or did you..

NHi No, no. I did go back to beauty school and then  I did 

finished my course, and I did get my license. But t hen when this 

new cold wave came out, X found out..that my hands couldn t take 

it, you know. So I cjuit that, then around that tim e, I guess*.

I was working out in the country, you know, like..t hen I got 

married and..

RWt took care., of the house naturally.

NHi Right, right. That was the life of » ^>9»)»

RW� What kind of work does your husband do now?

NHi Oh, he's^retired.

R W� Yes, what did he do before retiring?

NHi He used to work for this., when I first met him ., he was 

a chick sexier..

RW �� A what?

NHi Chick sexfer.

RWi I don’t quite get it.

NHi Okay, when the chicks first hatches, hul̂ , out of the egg..

RW� Yeah, oh, chicks.
u

NHi Yeah, he sfexs them.
fv

RWt Oh a chick sexer.

NHi Right, whether it was going to turn out to be a  hen or a 

rooster. They call it cockerel I think.
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RWi Yes, oocker^l or

NHi Yeah, that was his job. He used to sex chickens . And so 

he never went into camp, and he., at the. .jUuring the war JKe was 

down south in Alabama, you know, places like that. And then 

after that he was working at a place called Fibre B oard, that

was a box company, makes boxes. And then/yjust reti red, .matter 

of fact, he just retired last year. And right now, part time 

he's selling vacuum cleaner, (laughs)

RW� (laughs)

NHi And after a while I started working seasonal, a nd I just 

work at the cannery..seasonal..so I work about 4 or  5 months 

out of the year. But I never did go back to any ful l time job. 

RWt What type of work do you say you do now?

NHi Just work at the cannery.

RWi At the cannery..4 to 5 months out of the year. Could I 

tell you..pardon me..Could you tell me your birth d ate so that.« *

RWi January 16, 19 what?

NHi 20.

RW� 1920

NHi Yes.

RWt So you'll about years younger than I am. (laugh s)

N H� Oh reallyt

RWi Well, you've really told me some very helpful t hings.

NHi Did I really? But are you going..is this thing going to go 

in your book or ..

RWi No , the first thing is that they want me to write a 

report o n - f l U g i w g g i  what camp life did to people an d how 

they felt and also how they made out afterward � ilke you told 

me, you see. And then, I am being very careful abou t publishing, 

because of the suit for redress and reparation. I f igure I've 

got my reputation now. I'm retired myself. I don't want to 

hurt the Japanese Americans, after they were so goo d to me, you 

know.

January 16
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NHi /Are you planning to..

RWi tfhat I am planning to do is write..well like w ith

have all his interviews in sequence, but of course,  with a

different, what flo you call it, a pseudomyn, and^w ill

attach to that what you've told me about your life in Tule Lake.

I've also got little talks with you and then when i t is perfectly

quiet, if anybody wants to publish part of this, wh y then, fine.

NHi Okay, but the name..you are going to keep it an onymous, 

aren't you?

Rtfi Absolutely anonymous.

NHi Oh good.

RWi Absolutely.

NHi (laughs)

RWi Otherwise, it has to be.

NHi Or else they might start suing you. (laughs)

Si 'RW I llflili - 1 - h III»« i i- - ♦  .
name through it all is..I will tell 

It to you, because I know you won't tell anybody., it's -jjer ^

11" rwwn m m .. .  so that's.. M U M P

Me^pseudonyirf I gave him. And you are given anothe r name. Got 

any special name you'd like, instead of 

NHi Oh, I don't know. (laughs)

RW. (laughs) Okay, I'll pick out something else. Could I ask.,  

you know, looking back on this^is really a very extreme ex peri�

ence... what was the most helpful thing you think y ou learned  

about your fellow heings through it all?

NHi Oh boy, I'm not a bit of a philosopher..

RWi You're not a philosopher (laughs)*

NH. (laughs) I'm very, what shall I say..well, simp le-minded 

I guess is the best way to describe..

RWi Practical..

NH. Okay, that sounds a little better. But you k n o w f f c e - ^ ,

some people who would like to think too deeply into  things, but 

I'm never that way.

�
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RWi Well, I th wight even Tule Lake that you were w ise 

and didn't let things bother you.

NH* Yeah, right, just happy-go-lucky, like, you kno w. And fa&i
(to

even then when you get into a group like that,, you  kind of 

pick up a little shrewdness, huh, for self..to exis t. You 

have to turn a little shrewd. * a a W i e n  I came out, I  knew 

that I was a little different in that respect, you know, you 

have to be a little shrewd in order to exist.

RWi Exactly.

NHi That's part of growing up too, I think.

RWi Well, I say the same for myself. I learned that  kind of 

thing..I learned that you have to be careful with p eople.

NHi Yeah, right, Like some.4'\«tiy didn't you tell her

off” or something like that, but I figure, forget i t, if that's 

the way th§r feel, that's .. even now, you kiow, a lot of things 

I just let it go by, you know. Because why say anyt hing that 

is going to antagonize them, is the way I feel, you  know. You 

might not get across to them anyway, so, instead of  having 

a friction of any kind, you know, I just like..in a  way I just 

like things to^be peaceful.

RWi Well, I'd say you are a good person.

NHi Oh, thank you.

RWi Well, unless you have anything., if you have so mething more 

to tell me.•

NHi No, no I don't, but as I say I used to think ab out you 

once in..I wonder what happened to you...I wonder i f she ever 

did get that book out, you know. What was it sold u nder..what 

waannfche title?

RWi Qb f ^o you want the title?

NHi Yeah.

RWi Urn, the..there was a lttbluj^long history that  was written 

by my professors about it and it..you could probabl y get it in 

the libraries and it was called “the Spoi lage 7̂  It 's a kind of 

unpleasant name..
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NH* The Spoilage?

KWi Spoilage. 3-P-O-I-L-A-G-E. And then the book &9BElh I  

v m>te  which «m b I think you'd really enjoy because. Ifrdr

appears in it a lot and you too, under different na mes..I 

wrote that in 1971* That's called^going Field Work. ^ by 

Rosalie HankeyWax, if you look in the library.

N H� Wax?

RWi Wax. W-A-X.

NHi Wait, my pen is..I'm running out of ink.

RW* Oh,..

NHi It never fails, huh.

RW* And if you'd really like, I can send you a copy  of this.

NH. No, no that’s all right. I ’ll see if I can get a copy of 

i t• Wax?

RW* tfax, yes, just like in floor wax.

NH* Yeah, and *Doing Field Work* and you said �was..

RW* Yeah, inNfchere with the name of Tsuruda. WKXXX XXMX

t m

NH* 

RW s 

much

What about J w k ?

.I'm not sure..
0 ‘/ B

I didn' t talk to

.and I think I may have called him Bill, or somethi ng, 'fgr

NH, •&JCX.B ti/L
NH* Well, ^m^was more or less the..you know;.«Jaeif c wasn't too

verbal either, not as much as

BoA
RW* Yes, and I usually made my visits at house and who�

ever happened to be there. * * *

NH* Right,right, and whoever happened to drop by..

RW* And then I talked to^aTgood deal after#£you*and  Jglo's 

wife after he left, and to M r s . < ^ _ ^ ��, whom I hear M  

died several years ago.

NH. Yes, like, I didn’t even talk to you after M *  left. Isn’t 

that awful? (laughs)

RW* (laughs) I think it's kind of wonderful.
J&kA,*

NH* Oh, but^this was the most unexpected call.
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RWi Well, I will be calling . is he working?

NHi No, he's retired..

RWi H e ^  retired* Well, I'll call him some Saturday or Sunday 

then or something and talk to him.

NHi Oh boy, 1*5* going to have to..I*11 call him up  and tell him 

about.•.

RWi When you do, give him my regards, and I do than k you so

iftfehmiA-c-h«

NHi Oh, what was your maiden name?

RWi Rosalie..Rosalie Hankey.

NHi But this is under Rosalie Wax?

RWi Well, it*s probably i mmIvt  Rosalie H. Wax. Or Rosalie Hankey 

Wax, either way. A g+
n't

NHi And ^Doing Field Work*.. Okay, my husband did/c ome

home..and we're suppose to go to San Francisco toda y. I'm 

glad you caught me before we left.

RWi Well, I'm glad I caught you too and I'll.. I wi sh you well.

And I'm coming to California in January and I may v isit..

I don't know if I can get to Stockton, but I may dr op in and 
�	���� �������

try to see Jw»es, young Jaiter, and (558)*

NHi is a very good talker.

RWi Oh, she wrote me such a beautiful letter. It wa s she who 

gave me your telephone number.

NHi Oh, I see, I was wondering how you ever* got in  touch with 

me, you know.

RWi That's how it was.

NHt I never git to see her too much, but when we do  get together, 

I really enjoy her company.

RWi Yes, she's nice.

NHi A wonderful girl.

RWi Well, I guess I'm running out of tape here and so I will 

say that I do thank you and God Bless you.
t

NHi Thank you, same to you too.
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RWi And I hope if you enjoy my book,^you want to wr ite 

me any questions about it, you could write me at 

Washington..you want my address?

NHi Okay, I'll take it.

RWi I think this would be the best address - my hom e.

Tite. Westmoreland and that's like the general's na me-all 

one word.

NHi M-O-R

RWi And this is University City, Missourii&nd the z ip code, 

for the life of me I'm always forgetting it. (flang  on a

minute and I'll get the zip code.

NHi Okay..

End of Interview

(Earphone dropped off here and I did net xx notice it, xxt but all we did 

was repeat our farewells.,? HW.)
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Lives in Stockton, California

Noriko Tsuruda: Hello?

Rosalie Wax:  
Noriko Tsuruda:

Hello, is this Noriko, the lady who used to be Norik o Tsuruda?  
Yes.

Rosalie Wax:  
Noriko Tsuruda:

This is Professor Rosalie Wax.
Oh yes. Yes, I remember you called the last time.

Rosalie Wax: I called. My husband is out of town and the fact is t hat I was feeling kind  
of lonesome, and I thought if you had time, it would be nice to have a little\  
chat and maybe talk over a few things. But if you are busy I can call some  
other time.

Noriko Tsuruda: Well, I have a few minutes. We're going out in abou t another 15-20 minutes.

Rosalie Wax:  
Noriko Tsuruda:

Well. . .
Are you still back in Washington, is it?

Rosalie Wax:  
Noriko Tsuruda:

I beg your pardon?
Are you still in Washington?

Rosalie Wax:  
Noriko Tsuruda:

No, I ’m in St. Louis.  
Oh, St. Louis.

Rosalie Wax: Yeah, at Washington University. Well, supposing I ju st ask and then maybe I  
could call next weekend or something if you have more  to talk.

Noriko Tsuruda: Okay.

Rosalie Wax: I don’t want to be a pest, you know. Let’s see, what ’s happen is kind of  
interesting. A number of people I talked with told me later that after they  
had talked to me they began to remember things about  their eozperiences that

Noriko Tsuruda:
they wished they told me.
Yes, I had that too. And one of it is like, .when I f irst came back from the\  
camp, and before I went in I started to go to beauty  school and then I just  
completed my course. But I was unable to go to San Fr ancisco, because they  
froze us. We couldn’t get out of Stockton. I already ha d my application in  
and I paid my application fee and everything, but th en I couldn’t leave  
Stockton, because of whatever restriction -they put up on us to travel.
And I couldn’t go, so here I finished my course and every thing, but I was  
unable to finish. So when I came back  [left Tule Lake] I went to beauty  
school and then I graduated and I got my license an d so forth. When I  
started working, some of the people wouldn’t let me wait on  them, because I  
was Japanese.

Rosalie Wax:  
Noriko Tsuruda:

Oh, my goodness.
There were two or three that would just give me the c old, you know, you could

v just see darts coming out of their* eyes. This was at the very beginning,  
this was like maybe in 1948. • .the feeling was stil l there.

Rosalie Wax: Were you working in San Francisco, or was this in Sto ckton?
Noriko Tsuruda: Oh no, this was all in Stockton.

Rosalie Wax: That must have been painful.
Yeah, but, you know, some of the people understood that they didn’t think wh
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NT: they should feel that way about me, because I didn' t have anything to do with it
■ personally. But I said, well I am sure they have t heir personal reasons that maybe
something happened to someone in their immediate fa mily• And this is uhy, You gust have  

I to accept and turn the other cheek . At first I think being hired or finding employment  
was difficult for many, not only me, but many other  persons»

RW: That was, especially I imagine in the West coast an d certain parts of the West coast.
NT: I imagine it was universal all around California, t hough, you know• But as time went by

and their pain eased and the Japanese people began to be more recognized, you know,  •

RW: How long would you say it was until it began to be more comfortable?
NT: Well, it was such a gradual procedure, that you gus t can't, you know, but like, let's see

we came out of camp in 1946 and then I worked for a  while to make enough money and then I
went back to beauty school in 1948 and around then it was still quite»  •

RW: I imagine even now and then you meet some kind of n utty person, who can be nasty,
NT: Very few•

RW: Very few, well, I'm glad,
NT: What they think inside, they won't show it» I guess  it's something like these people  

, who, you know, with the Blacks, you know, how they are right now» But who knows what
I they are thinking deep inside» We are more or less in the same situation, but I think we

are being more and more accepted» My daughters and all their friends, you know, I think
the third generation and the coming fourth generati on - I don't think, I would say

) hardly any discriminatory feeling there» Like mos t of my daughters' friends are  
Japanese, American and all nationalities» » •

RW: When this did happen to you in 1948 when these peop le were, you know, very unpleasant  -  
how did you feel about that? If you don't mind tell ing me»

NT: \ I can't describe the feelings, you gust feel like  you had somebody poured cold water down  
I your back»

RW: That's good, that's a vivid description»
NT: 1 That's exactly, I gust feel like all the blood in m y face was drained and went down to my  

/ feet, you know, but there were very few like that, about maybe two or three» And one  J  would gust look at me and» • »They might think it, but then I guess she changed her mind  
/ and pretend that the feeling was not there, whateve r» Gradually, things began to ease»

RW: I had been thinking, you know, you told me when we last talked that Bill folks had gone  
back to Japan and then they came back to the United  States» Did you know or are you in a  
position to know whether they found it especially h ard then to make their way here?

NT: They had to have a sponsor to get back»

RW: I see•
NT: I'm sure that's the way it was» In those days like Bill's sister and brother, they came  

back before the folks [parents] did» And then I kno w, like Bill, I think, had to be the  
sponsor, you know, and he had to put out so much mo ney, you know» I think it was a  
$1,000 dollars, whatever it was, and that's about t he only way they were able to come, I  
think,

RW: Oh, Bill had to, •
NT: Bill, yes, because it is his wife's sister and brot her. The two sisters came first. And  

I think this was back in about 1947 or so.
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RW: I didn't know. What did he do with the $1,000?
NT: I don't know, I guess that was more or less for the  transportation or whatever, I really  

don't know.

RW: Oh, he had to send that to them? Is that it?
NT: Yeah, well and another thing, I think they had to k ind of sponsor like, they said they  

would he responsible for them in ease, you know, et e.

RW: Is it your general experience that people uko came hack from Japan had a little rougher  
time, or how would you put it?

NT: I really can't say. Because when they came hack. .m ost of the people probably had  
relatives or somebody here.

Now this is not talking about those refugees that s tarted coming into America, oh in  
about 1949 or 1950• There were a bunch of refugees coming in from Japan. But this was  
under another program. But this too, I think they h ad to have a place to go before they  
could come.

RW: A couple of Japanese I knew in the camp went to Jap an. I guess it was the Federal
government or somebody got in touch with me and wan ted me to say what kind of character  
they had and everything. So I wrote real good lette rs for these two nice people I knew  
there. So that kind of thing went on too, you know.  But I was real happy to do that.

NT: Well, I'm glad.

RW: Let me ask fust one and then I'll let you go and if  you don't mind, I'll call you again  
sometime.

NT: Okay.

RW: Because I enjoy talking to you. You're a nice perso n.
NT: I enjoy talking to you too.

RW: Lets see. . .I'll ask you this question about the f amily. For some people, camp
experience sort of helped to strengthen their famil ies, they stood more together. And  
for other people, I've talked to  - it's kind of heart-breaking that camp experience  
really broke up the family.

NT: Yes, I imagine. . .

RW: And what happened in your case?
NT: Oh, I don't think there was really no dramatic chan ge one way or another. It certainly  

didn't break it up.

RW: I always felt that yours was an especially good, ti ght family.
NT: Yeah, we were, yeah we were the average, you know. And. . .Remember like I told you, like  

if it wasn't for us being in camp, many of us would  have probably been killed, etc. But  
then of course, this protecting us from the public was not the motive for the government  
to put us into camp though. You know what I mean?

RW: Yes.
NT: They couldn't care less what happened to us outside , you know. I'm Just saying that in  

a way it had its good point. One point, I think it saved some unneeded killing.

RW: Yes, you told me last time. I was wondering about B ill's family, cause you told me that  
he really wouldn't go to Japan - he and his wife st ayed here  - when they came back did  
they resume good familial relationships?

NT: Oh yes.
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RW: Oh, how nice*  ̂ # #
NT: They never did— I mean they did not -part with hitte r words, like* .I think Grace's father  

and parents were probably very disappointed that Bi ll wouldn't break in and join them*
But Bill had his own - he stood on his two feet and  this was it*

RW: Well, that's very nice* If you have to go now, shal l I say good-bye*
NT: Okay *

RW: J didn't want to keep you from whatever* .
NT: Oh no* In the meantime if I come across something t hat* *I'll kind of jot it down*

RW: I'll be very delighted and I may call you next week  or some time* Is Saturday better  
than or should I call on a weekday?

NT: Well, right now since I'm not working I'll be home most weekdays, but I go in and out a  
l ot •

RW: Well, then I'll just call liken I feel like talking *
NT: Right•

RW: My best wishes*
NT: Thank you Mrs* Wax. Okay, then I'll be talking to y ou again*

RW: Great*
NT: Good-bye*

RW: Good-bye*
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Noriko Tsuruda:

Rosalie Wax:  
Noriko Tsuruda:

Rosalie Wax:  
Noriko Tsuruda:

Rosalie Wax:

Noriko Tsuruda:  

Rosalie Wax:

Noriko Tsuruda:

Rosalie Wax:  
Noriko Tsuruda:

Rosalie Wax:

Noriko Tsuruda:

Rosalie Wax  
Noriko Tsuruda:

Rosalie Wax:  
Noriko Tsuruda:

Rosalie Wax:  
Noriko Tsuruda:

Rosalie Wax  
Noriko Tsuruda:

Rosalie Wax:  

Noriko Tsuruda:

Hello?

Noriko? 'Phis is Roslaie Wax again.
Oh yes, gust a minute, let me close that front door .

Sure.
I was just outside picking up my mail and I thought  I heard the phone ring,  
so I just ran in.

That happens to me often. And especially if I'm tal king to somebody, but I  
wondered. .1 didn't know if it was your lunch time or not or if you have a  
little time to talk now.
Yeah, I can.

You can. Oh good. And any time you want me to stop,  why you tell me,  
because you know, how should I say, I want to do th is according to your  

wishes.
I'm usually available, except when we start to work , the season starts around  
May, June, until about October, you know I'll be ki nd of busy, but after  

that. . •

So this is not your busy work season?
No, this is my off season right now.

That's good. Let's see. You know last tme I was del ighted when you told me  
a thing you had remembered that you hadn't told me - was there anything else  
that you had thought of?
Not really, that was just Sunday when I talked to y ou. No I haven't really. .  

Not yet.
You know, right after the war broke out and before we were put unto camp, I  
guess, maybe you already have this information, the re was one case where the  
mother I guess, she just dug a trench or pit or som ething like that and I  
guess she was just depressed and upset over the war  and that might happen to  
them, etc. and there were a couple cases of family like murder-suicide.

Oh. . .
And things like that was brought on because of the war.

Were these people you knew or you just heard it?
No, no. Like we just read it in the paper in the Ja panese paper or something.  
And there was one case there I think this family we nt to church and then, you  
know, after the blessing or whatever and they went out someplace in a ?  
area and I think this was the family of four or som ething if I remember  
correctly and then it was like a murder-suicide. Wh ich I thought was real  
sad, you know. And another case was she just dug a hole or there was a pit  
or something, anyway, she just doused herself with gasoline or something and  

just jumped in.

Oh my goodness.
It was probably related to you know Pearl Harbor, y ou know the incident.

I did hear that in Poston after the atomic bomb was  dropped a man hanged
himself there.
Is that right?
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RW: • .A Japanese American. I wondered now that I mention ed It  - you were In camp when that
happened  - when you heard about the awful thing, you know, Hir oshima. Do you remember  
how the people acted, how It struck them?

NT: Oh gosh. They were really, .they were I guess speec hless I Imagine. I thought, you
know, that something like this, It was gust unbelie vable really. Here In America they*re  

J  talking about. . they talk about other countries being, .what should I say. .cruel things  
i and things like this and I thought, my gosh, they ’re topping It all, you know. So even  
I now they talk about these people, .mass murderer an d they think that’s terrible, well  

America did. . .but then we don’t say It since It's  already past history and we're living  
* In America, but you know.

RW: The reason I asked Is that I had just been talking to a Japanese American, .he said what  
struck him then was that there was a deathly silenc e over the camp.

NT: Yeah, I think so.

RW: And I was. .It was just horrible.
NT: It was right after, .especially after when they hea rd that Japan was to give up. .It hit  

some people more than the others, but It was quite like a funeral really. .

RW: • .like a funeral. .
NT: Right, right. The camp Itself everything was silent , you know, you could just feel the  

difference. And It was understandable.

RW: Yes. I had a Japanese American friend was was In Tu le Lake wrote me a letter In which he  
expressed his anger and horror at It all and I felt  so sick I couldn’t. .I didn’t know  
what to respond. I just felt very, very, .you know,  . .It was awful.

NT: I'm more, .what should I say  - nonchalant type, you know, I try not to let things bother  
me one way or another, anyway, maybe you won't get the true reaction, .from me. .but  
there are some people, I am sure. .

RW: There are all kinds of people. That’s why I'm talki ng to men and women. I have the
most fun talking to women, I'll tell you, but don’t  tell anybody. I was going to ask. .1  
was told by some, that there were people still amon g the hot heads, what you call them,  
.that they kept Insisting even after the atom bomb,  that Japan had really won the war and  
It was all propaganda.

NT: Yeah, It was all propaganda and then there were som e. .Okay I think there were some that
even. .like, .right after the atomic, .then they we re being sent back to Japan  - some of
what should I say. .

RW: Repatriates?
NT: Right. And these kids went back to Japan believing that they had won. It was that bad.

RW: And I was just checking because I myself, .when I w as there I. .some people told me that,
and of course, I just had to listen and say nothing , you know, because they just really
believed It.

NT: Right, they did. And there wasn’t anything like. . . We wouldn’t dare tell them,
’’You're all wet,” we just kept silent.  . .

RW: Me too.
NT: That was the only sensible thing to do and so when they went back I'm sure they found  

out. Or maybe deep Inside they knew, but they would n't want to admit It, I don't know.  
But some I'm sure just believed It.

RW: I'd like. .I'll ask you some questions that were su ggested to me by a Japanese American  
friend and If you don't like them well you just say  so.

NT: Okay.
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RW: Thinking back today on what happened in the camps a nd what you did when you were there,  
how do you feet about the way you acted, are you pt eased with yourself or are you  
critical with yourself?

NT: Oh, I don't think either way, I mean, I fust took e a&h day as they came. I was very  
naive and I just didn't let it bother me.

RW: You just didn't take it that seriously. Here's one on the families: For some people  
camp experience helped to strengthen families, but for other people camp experience  
helped to break them up or cause them to get hard f eelings toward each other?

NT: Well, I don't know why it should create a hard feel ing except maybe at the time when one  
was pro-American and the other was anti or whicheve r, and at that point it might have  
created a hardship.

RW: Yeah, you were probably too young to know families like that.
NT: I wasn't really young, but -then as I say, I didn't  have my own family,  (1) all I had was  

my own folks and Bob and them. So I just went along  with my own feelings,

RW: There wouldn't be anybody there to, , ,
NT: And my folks wouldn't say one way or another and in fluence, and maybe if I was married  

and if I had a husband, maybe I might have somethin g that you miss or with his in-laws  
or whatever, but I didn't have any of that pressure ,

RW: But there were boys and girls too, you know, that I  talked to who were pressured by their  
parents,

NT: Oh yes, there were,

RW: But you fortunately escaped,
NT: Yeah, right. My folks believed the way we felt, you  know, I was bom an American

citizen, why should I renounce it? And I never did renounce my citizenship like some  
did. I was under no pressure to renounce it either,  because no member of my family felt  
that way, that we should renounce. Except that Bill  was pressured from his wife's side,  
and that's when he renounced it, but when it came t o going back to Japan, that's finally
at that point, he put his foot down. So when you’re  at work or something, when it’s
slack, you know, we'll all stand in front of the yo u know, they had this big stove and  
they'll talk about this and that. Oh there were som e, 'Oh, we really have to renounce..'  
- We just walk away. And pretend that we're doing som ething else.

RW: You were really kind of lucky in that respect I gue ss.
NT: Yeah, I think I was. As I said, I was never really verbal, you know. I'm more talkative

now than I ever was. I mean I'll chatter with frien ds  - I'm really talkative now and  
chatter with friends, but it's just, you know (mino r?) things, but when it comes things  
like this, I just, you know.  . .

RW: Now you’re an older woman, so you have a right to t alk.
NT: Right.

RW: That's what I tell myself. Well, let's see, as you think back over what you’ve achieved  
in your lifetime, in what way did the camp experien ce help you and in what way did it  
hurt you?

NT: Well, okay, I don't think it really, .when I went t o camp I wasn't even employed or
anything and so it isn't as if I gave up something to go into camp, and then after I got  
there I just did whatever, you know, for a while I worked at the beauty shop, although I  
didn't have a license - they let me work anyway. An d then when they closed down the  
beauty shop, I also worked at the canteen. You know , that’s where they sold the  
groceries and things like that. And so, I really ne ver gave it any thought. And when I

[1. By her "own family" Mrs. Tsuruda evidently mean s a husband and children.]
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NT: came out to this farmland called. .was run by Zucke rman. .I guess you beard about that .
I gust worked there until I got married and that wa s about it. Except for the short time  
I went to school— the beauty school. And after finis hing it and everything, I gust found  
out that's when the cold wave started to come out a nd my hands gust couldn't take it.
Like as of now, you can hardly see my fingerprints.  'The cold wave solution gust about  
dissolved your skin off I guess. And so I gust didn 't even go back into the business  —
I worked for a little while, but then I had to give  it up.

RW: There have been some people I've talked to especial ly men  - they say - I think your
brother Bill said this when I talked to him, that t he years in camp  - it was four years
out of his life, but would you feel that way? I dou bt it, the way you talk.

NT: Yeah, in a way.

RW: In a way, could you tell me how?
NT: Not really. I mean it was four years wasted I guess . You could say it was, but then  -  

it's hard to say. If I wasn't in, I gust wouldn't k now how it would have been out of  
camp. I mean to me, the only way I could feel is th at what happened happened, and there  
wasn't much we could do about it, and so why hack o ver or. .what's over.

RW: I agree. I got one last one here. Bid your camp exp erience in any way leave with you a  
sense of insecurity?

NT: I don' think so.

You don't think so.
As a matter of fact, camp life, being among, you kn ow, all enclosed contact with all  
those people, it kind of makes you more, not really  aggressive, but it puts a little bit  
more I can't  - sense of stand up on your own. You almost had to.

You could say you got a stronger self image.
I think it helped some.

You've told me that and that checks out real nice. Well that's the end of these. If  
there is something else you want to tell me. I did give you my telephone number,  
didn't I?
Yeah, but I think I better write it. . .

RW:
NT:

^ R W :
NT:

RW:

NT:


